SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC04-1012

CAROLYN R. WADE f/k/a CAROLYN R. HIRSCHMAN,

Petitioner,

v.

L.T. Case No. 5DO3-2797

MICHAEL D. HIRSCHMAN,

Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIFTH DISTRICT, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER CAROLYN R. WADE

MILLS & CARLIN, P.A.

TRACY S. CARLIN FLORIDA BAR NO. 0797390 865 MAY STREET JACKSONVILLE, FLORIDA 32204 (904) 350-0075 (904) 350-0086 FACSIMILE

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

A. Procedural Background

This case began as an appeal from an Order Changing Primary Residence to the Father (the Morder®). (R:VI:1121-27; Appendix (AA.®) 1-7.) The Order modified the parties= agreed-to rotating custody arrangement the trial court incorporated into the original Consent Final Judgment of Dissolution (the AJudgment®) in October 1999. (A.6-7.) Pursuant to the Judgment, the parties shared a nine-day/five-day split of time with the couple=s only child, with the Petitioner, Carolyn R. Wade f/k/a Carolyn R. Hirschman (the AMother®), having the nine-day majority of the time with the child. (R:II:246.) The Order changed that arrangement by making the Respondent, Michael D. Hirschman (the AFather®), the child=s primary residential parent. (R:VI:1121-27; A.6-7.)

The Mother appealed the Order to the Fifth District Court of Appeal. *See Wade v. Hirschman*, 872 So. 2d 952 (Fla. 5th DCA 2004). (A.8-13.) The Mother argued that the standard, two-part modification test applied and that the Father failed to meet it. (A.10-11.) That test requires the party seeking a custody modification to meet the extraordinary burden of demonstrating: 1) a substantial or material change in circumstances; and 2) that the child-s best interests would be promoted by the change in custody (the AChange Test.). (A.10.) The Fifth District noted that Athis standard has been adopted by *all* of the Florida appellate courts in an effort to forestall repeated child custody modification proceedings being filed and to achieve stability and finality in child custody degrees [sic]. (A.10.) (emphasis added)). The Fifth District acknowledged that it is not in the best interests of children or parents to constantly litigate over children-s custody or primary residency. (A.10.)

The Fifth District conceded that if the Change Test applied, the Father failed to meet it. (A.10-11.) The court concluded that the Father had not demonstrated a

substantial or material change. (A.11.) In addition, it acknowledged that the evidence showed that the child had no diagnosable emotional distress, was Ahappy go lucky,@resilient, and doing well in school. (A.11.)

Nevertheless, the Fifth District concluded that it did not have to address the Father-s failure to satisfy the Change Test because that test does not apply where there is no primary residential parent and the parties have rotating custody. (A.11.) The Fifth District stated:

Once it is established through substantial and competent evidence that the split rotating custody plan has failed and is doomed to future failure, for *whatever reason* (the child=s obtaining school age, or one party=s complete refusal to adhere to the plan), then the court should be free to *redetermine custody* based on the considerations set out in section 61.13, *as though it were making an initial custody determination*.

(A.11-12 (emphasis added)). To reach this decision, the Fifth District relied upon *Mooney v. Mooney*, 729 So. 2d 1015 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999), but recognized the contrary cases of *Cooper v. Gress*, 854 So. 2d 262 (Fla. 1st DCA 2003), *Ring v. Ring*, 834 So. 2d 216 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002), *Newsom v. Newsom*, 759 So. 2d 718 (Fla. 2d DCA 2000), *Cassin v. Cassin*, 726 So. 2d 399 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999), and *Skirko v. Skirko*, 677 So. 2d 885 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996), *review denied*, 689 So. 2d 1071 (Fla. 1997). (A.11-12.)

Because the Fifth District observed that the trial court had addressed all of the necessary factors required under section 61.13(3), Florida Statutes, which is used to determine custody in the first instance (the ABest Interests Test®), and because it found that the trial court=s findings on those factors were supported by competent substantial evidence, the Fifth District affirmed the Order, which made the Father the child=s primary residential parent. (A.11-12.)

The Mother timely filed a Motion for Rehearing and/or for Certification. (A.14-21.) The Mother argued, among other things, that in applying the Best Interests Test, the Fifth District overlooked the fact that: 1) the parties=rotating

custody agreement, as incorporated into the Judgment, did not define what test would be applied in the event of a change in custody; and 2) the Father had conceded in both the trial and appellate courts that the Change Test applied. (A.16-19.) Therefore, the Fifth District granted the Father relief he never requested and changed the rules of the game after the fact. (A.17-18.) Based upon the Mother=s understanding of the proceedings below, the Father had to satisfy the Change Test before the rotating custody arrangement could be modified. (A.17-18.) As a result, the Mother did not litigate the custody issue as if it were an initial custody determination. (A.18-19.) If the Mother had known that the trial court would be deciding the case as if it were determining custody in the first instance, the Mother would have introduced evidence as to the Father-s failings and why it was not in the child=s best interest to reside primarily with the Father and his parents. (A.18-19.) As a result, the Mother requested that if the Fifth District intended to announce a new modification standard applicable to rotating custody arrangements, the court should remand for a new hearing applying the Best Interests Test. (A.19.) Finally, the Mother requested that the Fifth District certify the conflict between this case and Cooper. (A.19-20.) The Fifth District denied the Mother's motion on May 18, 2004. (A.22.)

As a result, the Mother timely filed a notice to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court. (A.23-24.) After jurisdictional briefing, this Court accepted jurisdiction to resolve the conflict between this case and *Cooper*. (A.25-26.)

B. The Order on Appeal

In the Order entered July 17, 2003, which terminated the rotating custody arrangement and made the Father the primary residential parent, the trial court found that the following conduct by the Mother constituted a substantial or material change in circumstances: 1) in August, 2001, the Mother transferred the child to a new school without telling the Father and in violation of the parenting plan; 2) at the beginning of the 2001/2002 school year, the Mother told the child=s teacher, in front of the child and his classmates, that the Mother was a Avictim of being caught up in a good ole boy system@as her husband worked for the school board attorney and she Adid not want the child at Ketterlinus Elementary School,@the school referenced in the parenting plan; 3) during the 2001/2002 school year, the Mother often made excuses for the child when he did not turn in his work on time and requested the teacher to make exceptions for him; 4) during the 2001/2002 school year, the Mother canceled the child-s participation in a school field trip when she found out the child=s paternal grandparents were going as chaperones; 5) the Mother has been obstructionist with the first parenting coordinator, Dr. Mary Horn, by calling her over twenty times within a several day period, and by trying to have her removed when the Mother did not get her way; 6) the Mother refused to sign the parenting agreement as agreed upon by the parties in July 2001, and, as a result, the plan had to be submitted to the trial court for formal approval; 7) the Mother had difficulty focusing on the parenting plan rather than complaining about the Father; 8) the Mother tried to illegally tape a session with Dr. Horn, which resulted in Dr. Horn asking to resign as the coordinator; 9) the Mother was totally disruptive of the parenting coordinators efforts; 10) the Mother told, Dr. Risch, the childs therapist, that she did not want the child to go to tutoring or to baseball because she did not Awant to share the child with anyone, 11) the Mother unilaterally, without the Father's knowledge, and in violation of the parenting plan, changed the child's therapist because she thought the therapist was biased against her; and 12) the

Mother would not allow the child to go to summer school in 2002 because she wanted to spend time with the child and the child Aneeded a break. (R:VI:1121-1123; A.1-3.) The trial court concluded that the field trip incident was serious post-Judgment evidence of parental alienation of the Father and his parents by the Mother. (R:VI:1122; A.2.) It further found that Dr. Horn had reviewed the Mother psychological evaluation and determined that her MMPI scores fit the profile for parental alienation. (R:VI:1122; A.2.)

The trial court also made certain findings regarding the childs best interests. (R:VI:1123-26; A.3-4.) The court found that pursuant to section 61.13(4)(c)(5), Florida Statutes, the court had the authority to award custody to the Father, the non-custodial parent, where the custodial parent refuses to honor the other parents visitation rights if the award is in the best interests of the child. (R:VI:1123; A.3.) The court then considered the factors contained in section 61.13(3) (a)-(m) of the Florida Statutes. (R:VI:1124-26; A.4-6.)

In so doing, and primarily relying on the same facts the court relied upon to find a change in circumstances as well as one incident where the Mother was held in contempt for violating the Fathers visitation rights, the trial court determined that the Father was 1) the parent most likely to allow frequent and continuing contact with the non-residential parent; 2) more cognizant of a healthy love for the child; 3) employed full time and therefore better able to provide the child with food, clothing, and medical care; 4) able to provide a more stable environment for the child; 5) more mentally healthy than the Mother; and 6) more likely to foster a relationship between the Mother and the child. (R:VI:1124-26; A.4-6.) The court also found that the Mother was guilty of parental alienation of the child against the Father and was potentially suffering from mental illness. (R:VI:1124-26; A.4-6.) The court further found that the child had a better home, school, and community record while in the Fathers care than in the Mothers. (R:VI:1125; A.5.) Finally, in considering

any other relevant factor, the trial court determined that the Mothers attempt to tape a session with Dr. Horn was suggestive of mental illness. (R:VI:1126; A.6.)

Based upon these findings, the trial court held that a substantial or material change in circumstances had occurred since the Judgment and that it was in the child=s best interests for the Father to be the primary residential parent. (R:VI:1126-27; A.6-7.) The court did not find that the child=s best interests would be promoted by the change or that it would be detrimental to the child to continue with the pre-existing custody arrangement. (R:VI:1121-27; A.1-7.) In addition, the court concluded that the Mother should not have any visitation rights whatsoever until she completed a psychological evaluation update with specific reference to the safety of the child for visitation and the parameters for visitation, supervised or unsupervised. (R:VI:1126-27; A.6-7.)

C. The Original Judgment/Custody Arrangement

The Father petitioned for dissolution of marriage in October 1999. (R:I:1-7.) At that time, the Father received temporary custody of the couples only child. (R:I:178-84.) The trial court limited the Mothers visitation with the child to after school on Wednesdays and every other weekend. (R:I:179.)

The trial court also appointed a guardian ad litem for the child. (R:I:180.) The guardian reported that the Father described the Mother as being mentally unstable. (R:I:180.) The guardian did not agree. (R:I:180.) She described the Mother as Acapable, well equipped, and able to provide love, security, comfort, and continuity@ in the child=s life. (R:I:180.) Indeed, the guardian recommended that the Mother be the primary residential parent with the Father having frequent and liberal visitation. (R:I:183.)

Subsequently, on October 30, 2000, the trial court entered the Judgment as

¹ Although the Mother objected to the evaluation requirement, she submitted to it, and has since obtained unsupervised visitation with the child.

consented to by the parties. (R:II:245-251.) Pursuant to the Judgment, the parties shared a nine-day/five-day split of time with the child, with the Mother having the nine-day majority of time with the child. (R:II:246.) The Judgment indicated that neither party would be labeled the primary residential parent. (R:II:246.) In addition, the Judgment required the parties to retain a parenting coordinator to assist them in dealing with any disputes that arose regarding the child. (R:II:248.) The court appointed Dr. Mary Horn to serve as the parenting coordinator in the case. (R:II:252-254.)

D. The Child=s Mental State at the Time of the Modification Hearing

Dr. Risch, the childs first therapist, met with the child on June 26, 2003, just before the modification hearing. (RT:VII:28-29.)² She testified that the child was very guarded and that she felt the child had been told to be careful about what he said to her. (RT:VII:29-30.) Nevertheless, the child reported that he enjoyed spending time with his Mother and was not fearful of her or her treatment of him. (RT:VII:60-61.) In addition, Dr. Risch said that the child did not appear to have any emotional distress she could diagnose. (RT:VII:66-67.)

Similarly, Dr. Hoza, the child-s second therapist, saw the child at the end of December 2002, approximately six months before the modification hearing. (RT:VII:116-17.) Dr. Hoza did not think the child needed therapy at that time. (RT:VII:116-17.) He was not having any significant behavioral issues, his school problems appeared to be related to Attention Deficit Disorder, he was Ahappy-go-lucky, and he did not complain about anything. (RT:VII:116-17.) Dr. Hoza did not want to keep him in therapy if he did not need it. (RT:VII:116-17.) She believed the situation could be handled through the parenting coordinator. (RT:VII:116-17.) Indeed, Dr. Hoza never believed that the child was really doing badly. (RT:VII:119.) She thought he was well adjusted under the circumstances. (RT:VII:119.)

The Father agreed that the child was resilient and largely unbothered by the parents= differences. (RT:VIII:316.) The Father also testified that the child is smart, has common sense, and is friendly and well mannered. (RT:VIII:326.) He had these traits before the divorce and he had them at the time of the modification hearing. (RT:VIII:326.)

E. The School-Related Issues

The first major post-Judgment dispute between the parents involved the childs schooling. A July 2001 parenting plan required the child to remain at Ketterlinus Elementary School for the remainder of his elementary education. (RT:VII:152, Fathers Exhibit (AFx.@) 9.) The Mother said she did not agree to this July 2001 plan (R:II:343-45), and refused to sign it as a result (RT:VII:150-51, 179-81; Fx. 9).

Then, prior to the start of the 2001/2002 school year, the child-s second-grade year, the Mother moved to a new residence in a different school district. (RT:VIII:338-41.) As a result, the Mother believed that she was required to enroll the child in the school in her district, R.B. Hunt Elementary School. (RT:VIII:338-41.) The Father claimed that the Mother enrolled the child at R.B. Hunt without his knowledge (RT:VIII:318), which the Mother denied. (RT:VIII:341-34).

Because the Father objected to the child attending R.B. Hunt, he filed a motion asking the trial court to adopt the July 2001 parenting plan over the Mothers objections (see R:II:343-45) and to enforce the requirement that the child remain at Ketterlinus (R:II:324-31; RT:VIII:318). The trial court granted the Fathers motion, and warned the parties that A[f]ailure to comply with the parenting plan may be considered contempt and could affect the parties [sic] visitation and/or custody rights.@ (R:II:338-39.)

When the Mother took the child to Ketterlinus for the first day of school, she announced in front of the child, the child's second-grade teacher, and the child's classmates that the child was ordered to attend Ketterlinus. (RT:VIII:193-95.) The Mother said that the Father worked for the school board attorney, that it was a Agood ole boy@system, and that the court had ruled against her. (RT:VIII:193-95.)

Ms. Barnes, the child=s second-grade teacher, testified that the Mother was

² Citations to the transcript, which consists of Volumes VII and VIII of the record, will be to the actual pages (1-360) of the transcript and will be denoted as ART.@

not cooperative with respect to the child=s schooling. At the time of the hearing, however, the child was entering the fourth grade. (RT:VIII:248-50.) His third-grade teacher did not testify. (RT:VII-II.) Thus, Ms. Barnes=information was over a year old. (RT:VIII:190-223, 248-50.)

In any event, Ms. Barnes said she employed strict rules in the child-s second-grade class and that the Mother did not respond well to that. (RT:VIII:198-99.) The teacher spoke frequently with the Mother about not allowing the child to disobey the rules regarding homework and other matters. (RT:VIII:200-01.) The Mother tried to get the teacher to bend the rules for the child and not to penalize him for breaking them. (RT:VIII:200-01.) The child missed twelve homework assignments, eleven when he was with the Mother. (RT:VIII:327.) The teacher testified that when she would ask the child why he did not do something, he would say that his Mother said he did not have to. (RT:VIII:210.) Nevertheless, the teacher felt that by the end of the school year, she had made progress with the Mother. (RT:VIII:209-10.)

The teacher also described an incident involving a second-grade field trip to an I-Max theater, which the child-s paternal grandparents had agreed to chaperone. (RT:VIII:215-17.) The field trip was scheduled on one of the Mother-s days with the child. (Fx. 24.) The Mother would not allow the child to go on the field trip because she claimed he had a fear of loud noises. (RT:VIII:215-17; Fx. 24.) The child had previously been to the I-Max theater without incident, however. (RT:VIII:215-17.)

Before the Judgment, the child failed the first grade while in the Fathers primary custody. (RT:VIII:221-22, 297-98.) The child passed the second grade. (RT:VIII:223-24, 321.) Nevertheless, the school recommended that the child attend summer school after second grade. (RT:VIII:301-02.) The Father said the Mother would not take the child to summer school because she wanted to spend more time

with him and felt he needed a break. (RT:VIII:301-02.) The Father took the child to summer school during his two weeks, but the Mother did not. (RT:VIII:302-03.) The child passed the third grade. (RT:VIII:321.)

F. The Visitation/Contempt Issue

The next post-Judgment dispute occurred in January 2002, when the Father filed a motion for contempt against the Mother. (R:II:349-51.) He alleged that the Mother had denied him two days of holiday visitation to which he was entitled under the parenting plan. (R:II:349-51; RT:VIII:289-90.) The Mother said she made a simple mistake because the holiday-related schedule contained in the plan was confusing. (RT:VIII:358.) The trial court granted the motion for contempt and ordered the Mother to provide the Father with two extra days of visitation and to pay the Fathers attorneys fees related to the motion. (R:II:372-73.) The Mother complied with all of her obligations under the contempt order. (R:II:378-79.)

Prior to the contempt hearing, the Mother had tried to work the problem out by having a three-way conference call between her, the Father, and the second parenting coordinator, Mr. Rousis. (RT:VIII:334-335; Fx. 17.) The Mother offered to give the Father two extra days with the child as the parenting coordinator suggested. (RT:VIII:356-357; Fx. 17.) The Father said he did not want to work it out, he wanted to take her to court. (RT:VIII:334-335; Fx. 17.) In fact, the Father said he would cancel the contempt hearing only if the Mother would agree to equal time sharing and no child support. (Fx. 17.)

The Father admitted that after the court held the Mother in contempt, the parties created a visitation schedule for 2002/2003, which the Mother has not violated. (RT:VIII:312-13.) Indeed, the Father admitted that other than the two days for which the Mother was held in contempt, the Mother has not otherwise interfered with his visitation. (RT:VIII:312-13.)

Then, in March 2002, the Father filed a motion to modify the Judgment,

which asked the court to make him the primary residential parent for the child and to award the Mother reasonable visitation. (R:II:380-86.) The Mother filed a counter-petition alleging that no change in circumstances had occurred, but nevertheless asking that she be given primary residential parent status and that the Father receive reasonable visitation. (R:II:387-89.) Subsequently, the Father filed an amendment to his motion that requested that if he is not given primary residential parent status, he should at least be given control over the child-s schooling and extra-curricular activities. (R:III:450-52.)

G. Interference With Parenting Coordinators

Another major post-Judgment dispute between the parties was the Mother-s alleged lack of cooperation with the first parenting coordinator, Dr. Horn. Dr. Horn is located in Gainesville, Florida. (RT:VII:155). Because the Mother did not want to drive all the way from St. Augustine to Gainesville for their sessions, Dr. Horn agreed that they could meet by telephone. (RT:VII:155.) She and the Mother had approximately twenty unscheduled telephone calls. (RT:VII:167-68.) Dr. Horn did not testify that all twenty of those calls were over the course of only a few days as the trial court found. (RT:VII:167-68; R:VI:1121-27; A.1-7.)

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