SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CAROLYN R. WADE f/k/a CAROLYN R. HIRSCHMAN,

Petitioner,

vs.

CASE NO. SC04-1012 L. T. 5D03-2797

MICHAEL D. HIRSCHMAN,

Respondent.

ON CONFLICT REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIFTH DISTRICT STATE OF FLORIDA

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Linda Logan Bryan, Esquire Florida Bar No. 286303 97 Orange Street P. O. Box 3376 St. Augustine, FL 32085 904-824-0484 Attorney for Respondent, Father, Michael D. Hirschman

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

⁹ The district court determined that there was little evidence in the record that the instant Mother "substantially interfered" with the Father's visitation rights; therefore, it found section 61.13(4)(c)(5), Fla. Stat., did not apply. 872 So. 2d at 953, AR. 2.

test as it requires threshold proof of substantial interference with visitation, then the trial court is permitted to change custody based on a determination of the best interests of the child by considering the primary residence criteria of section 61.13(3), Williams v. Williams, 676 So. 2d at 495 n.3; whereas, proof of the failure of the rotating custody plan is the trigger for the section 61.13(3) consideration *sub judice*. Further, this interference with visitation threshold addresses a circumstance in which there has been a designation of primary residential parent in that it refers to "custodial" or "non-custodial" parents, § 61.13(4)(c)(5), Fla. Stat.; a situation that traditionally requires that a petitioning parent overcome the presumption in favor of the previously designated parent. E.g., Hastings v. Rigsbee, 875 So. 2d 772, 778 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004). In the rotating custody plan without a designated parent, there is no presumption. According, the often-quoted policies of the State do not mandate only one modification test. Moreover, the instant two-part test does not undermine the stability of judgments.

The test applied by the Fifth District below finds support in other Florida appellate decisions. The Fifth District relied upon *Mooney v. Mooney*, 729 So. 2d 1015 (Fla. 1 DCA 1999). 872 So. 2d at 954 n.6, AR. 3. Mother argues that the *Mooney* decision is not applicable because the instant parents did not agree that a particular event would constitute a change in circumstances requiring custody to be readdressed. IBP at 36. Mother incorrectly implies that the *Mooney* parents had designated the test to be applied in a modification. In *Mooney*, the First District

determined that neither parent was required to prove the allegedly higher burden of the Change Test in a post-dissolution modification of child custody because the initial custody order granted the parents rotating custody until the child began school. In *Mooney*, the First District, the same district that decided *Cooper v. Gress*, affirmed the trial court's modification of custody as if it were an initial custody determination. The *Mooney* parents had agreed to a rotating custody plan until the summer before the child was scheduled to begin school. The parents did not specify the test for modification, but their custodial plan indicated that the start of school rendered the weekly switch of custody untenable; therefore, the trial court that had never made an initial designation of primary residential parent, was free to treat the circumstance as if it were an initial custody determination. 729 So. 2d at 1016. The Fifth District perceived the *Mooney* circumstance as analogous to the failure of the instant custody plan, albeit for a different reason. The *Mooney* plan was premised upon the child not being in school; whereas, the instant custody plan was premised upon the parents abiding by the parenting plan and cooperating with the parenting coordinator. Vol. II, R. 245, ¶C, AR. 12. When the underlying assumption for the plan is not fulfilled or ends, it is sensible to let the trial court determine custody as in the initial circumstance. 872 So. 2d at 955, AR. 4. The instant parents had an agreement like that in *Mooney*. Neither agreement provided the test to be applied in a modification proceeding; however, both agreements were based on a circumstance, the failure of which would render the plan untenable. Much like other contractual agreements, an absence of the consideration for the custody agreement should void the agreement and allow the trial court to start over with respect to the determination of custody. *Cf.*, *Ballantyne v. Ballantyne*, 666 So. 2d 957, 958-59 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996) (Recognizing that a marital settlement agreement is a contractual agreement to be addressed and interpreted, much like other contracts). The consideration for the instant rotating custody agreement failed; therefore, the absence of a designated residential parent was <u>not</u> in the child's best interests. Mother's material breach of the parties' agreement voided the agreement such that the child's best interests should be determined in the absence of the parenting plan and parenting coordinator and pursuant to the primary residence criteria used in an initial custody determination. In the *Mooney* circumstance, the basis for the rotating custody agreement had expired, requiring a designation of residential parent. The *Mooney* rationale supports the test applied in *Wade v. Hirschman*.

The *Mooney* court found its circumstance essentially indistinguishable from that in *Skirko v. Skirko*, 667 So. 2d 885 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996), *rev. denied*, 689 So. 2d 10771 (Fla. 1997).¹⁰ In *Skirko*, the Third District reviewed a modification of a rotating custody plan in which there had been no designated primary residential parent, and affirmed the grant of primary residential custody to the father. The *Skirko* court determined that the record evidence supported the conclusion that the minor

¹⁰ The Fifth District suggests that *Skirko* is contrary to its position, 872 So. 2d at 955 n.6, AR. 3; however, this is not the case and must be a scrivener's error.

child had spent almost equal amounts of time with each parent pursuant to a joint custody award, and that the joint custody plan was no longer workable now that the child was in school. On these facts, the trial court made findings of fact in accordance with the evidence based upon the application of the section 61.13(3)factors typically used in initial custody determinations. On appeal, the mother argued that the trial court had applied the wrong standard, urging the Third District to apply the Change Test. The Third District acknowledged the Change Test, but agreed with the trial court that the modification was warranted upon the test applied, holding that under the circumstances presented, including the joint custody plan and the fact that both parents had alleged a substantial change in circumstances, the trial court did not abuse its discretion by treating the situation as if it were an initial custody determination. 677 So. 2d at 887. Finding competent substantial evidence to support the trial court's application of the statutory best interests factors, the Third District concluded that the award of primary residential custody was not an abuse of discretion. Id.

In addition, in so much as the two cases are similar, the *Cooper v. Gress* result does not require reversal of the *Wade v. Hirschman* test. Both district courts reviewed the modification of stipulated rotating custody agreements incorporated into final judgments. Likewise, both of the parents in *Cooper v. Gress* had filed petitions for modification, seeking designation as primary residential parent, as is the case *sub judice*. The father alleged that the mother had failed to abide by the terms of the final

judgment by interfering with visitation, speaking disparagingly to the children about him and refusing to keep him informed about the whereabouts of the child and the child's medical care. 854 So. 2d at 264-65, AR. 20-21. The mother alleged a substantial change in circumstances based on the parties' failure to communicate with each other, the father's occasionally inability to care for the children and the children's desire to live with the mother. 854 So. 2d at 264, AR. 20-21. The trial court treated this circumstance as if it were an initial custody determination, tracking the factors of section 61.13(3), and designated the mother as primary residential parent. On appeal, the father claimed error based on the trial court's application of only the best interests test, contending that the "extraordinary burden" or Change Test was applicable. Id. at 265, AR. 21 (emphasis added). The First District noted that the mother's substantial change allegations were insufficient as a matter of law to support a substantial change and that the record facts demonstrated that the custody plan had not failed, rather it was an instance of the parties' mutual failure to communicate effectively and their hostile treatment of each other. Determining that the Change Test should apply, the First District concluded that the mother had not established the threshold ground of a substantial change in circumstances, reversed the trial court and remanded with instructions to reinstate the rotating custody plan. Id. at 266-68, AR. 22-23. Specifically, the First District found that the fact that the parties had a rotating custody agreement, or that both parties were seeking designation as primary residential parent did not lessen the evidentiary threshold,

"given the facts in this case." 854 So. 2d at 265, AR. 21-22. Thereafter, the First District distinguished the Mooney v. Mooney decision, supra., the Skirko v. Skirko decision, supra, and the Greene v. Suhor decision.¹¹ 854 So. 2d at 268, AR. 23. The First District distinguished these cases, concluding that its facts "materially differ from the specific circumstances in those cases that warranted a *de novo* modification determination." Id., AR. 10. The Wade v. Hirschman facts are materially different also. They demonstrate more than parental hostility and a failure to communicate. 872 So. 2d at 955, AR. 4. They demonstrate that the rotating custody plan had failed. Moreover, this failure is the threshold ground that allows the court to determine custody pursuant to the primary residence criteria. Moreover. as previously briefed, *supra* 21, both courts require proof of a threshold ground before consideration of the best interests test. The *Cooper v. Gress* court maintains that it must be a substantial change in circumstances; whereas, the Wade v. Hirschman court states that it can be the failure of the rotating custody plan. Cooper v. Gress distinguished cases like Wade v. Hirschman. 854 So. 2d at 268, AR.23-24. Moreover, under the reasoning of the *Cooper v. Gress* court, the failure of the rotating custody plan would have been a substantial change in circumstances which

¹¹ *Cf.*, *Greene v. Suhor*, 783 So. 2d 290 (Fla. 5th DCA 2001) (stating that father seeking primary residential custody was not required to prove a substantial change in circumstances where original custody order provided for rotating custody and provided that either parent could seek modification without showing a substantial change in circumstances).

would have permitted the trial court to consider the best interests of the child. See *infra* at pages 38-42. Accordingly, and only insofar as these two cases may be in conflict, the *Wade v. Hirschman* decision is the better reasoned opinion with respect to the test that should be applied to a failed rotating custody plan without a designation of primary residential parent.

Finally, although the decision as to which evidentiary test to apply is a question of Florida policy and Florida law, decisions in other jurisdictions are instructive. Mother relies on Johnson v. Stephenson, 15 P.3d 359 (Kan. Ct. App. 2000) for the policies underlying the adoption of the Change Test. IBP at 34. In fact, the Kansas appellate court engages in an extended review of the policies that impact a trial court's modification of custody. The Johnson court acknowledges that child custody is one of the most difficult areas faced by a trial court, concluding that the paramount question for determination of custody is what "best serves the interests and welfare of the children. All other issues are subordinate thereto." 15 P.3d at 362. The test for modification of custody is prescribed by statute in Kansas. Id. Addressing the tension between the material change of circumstances rule (Change Test) and the best interests test, this court notes that some states have abolished the substantial change rule entirely and in those states, the <u>only issue</u> in a modification action is whether the change in custody would be in the best interests of the child. This approach is consistent with the primary focus on the best interests of the child. 15 P.3d at 365. It recognizes that the sole application of the best interests test may undermine the stability of custodial relationships, *cf.*, *Wade v. Hirschman* (Requires threshold proof of the failure of the plan prior to the application of the "best interests" test); nevertheless, Kansas and other states have concluded that the material change of circumstances rule should <u>not</u> apply to decrees resulting from default or <u>stipulation</u>. 15 P.3d at 365 (emphasis added). The Kansas court recognizes that such custody decrees are not always adjudicated and when they are, the *res judicata* policy underlying the material change test is not very persuasive. This court notes that the involvement of the parents in the resolution of domestic matters is important and this policy favors stipulated custody. 15 P.3d at 366. In Kansas, the Change Test would not have applied *sub judice*.

Mother also cites *Poe v. Capps*, 599 So. 2d 623 (Ala. Civ. App. 1992) as contrary to *Johnson v. Stephenson, supra*. IBP at 34. Although the results may be different, the rational of the Alabama court is comparable to the Kansas court. Reversing the trial court and holding that the proper standard of review of the modification of a rotating custody plan was the child's best interests, the *Poe* court stated that an initial custody determination, the parties stand on equal footing without a favorable presumption to either; however, to change custody from one parent to another, the burden is on the party seeking to show some change of circumstances justifying the change. 599 So. 2d at 624. In this rotating custody arrangement, there had not been a custody determination favoring either parent; therefore, the change of circumstances standard was not appropriate to that fact situation. *Id.* Certainly, these

policy considerations are similar to those announced by the Kansas court and they support the approval of the *Wade v. Hirschman* modification test *sub judice*.

This Court should approve the Fifth District's test, affirm the *Wade v*. *Hirschman* decision and find that insofar as *Cooper v*. *Gress* is inconsistent with its decision, it is overruled.¹²

B. THE FATHER SATISFIED THE BURDEN OF THE CHANGE TEST; THEREFORE, THE MODIFICATION ORDER SHOULD BE AFFIRMED. (In Response to Mother's III.B. Argument)

1. Standard of Review

The standard for review of a modification proceeding in which the trial court has employed the change or "extraordinary burden" test is whether the trial court abused its discretion. *E.g.*, *Strickland v. Gay*, 17 So. 2d 1082 (Fla. 1st DCA 2002). The often repeated mantra under these circumstances is that the discretion is less than at the time of the initial decree. *E.g.*, *Miller v. Miller*, 671 So. 2d 849, 852 (Fla. 5th DCA 1996). It is equally true that appellate courts should defer to trial courts to resolve factual questions, *Shaw v. Shaw*, 334 So. 2d 13 (Fla. 1976), especially in child custody matters because they are able to see and judge the witnesses much better than an appellate court. *E.g.*, *Schweinberg v. Click*, 627 So. 2d 548, 552 (Fla.

¹² Alternatively, because of the materially different factual circumstances considered by these courts and because the *Cooper v. Gress* court disapproved only the *de novo* determination of custody without a threshold ground for change, these two cases may be reconciled and the Mother's petition for jurisdiction dismissed as having been improvidently granted.

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